# 72713-3

# FILED September 30, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 72713-3-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# DIVISION ONE

# STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ZAKARIA AWEIS DERE,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

# APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Robert Goldsmith Attorney for Appellant

705 Second Avenue, Suite 1300 Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 623-1592

#

#### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in admitting recorded jail calls made by a codefendant to Zakaria Dere while Dere was out of custody.

2. The trial court erred in admitting hearsay statements regarding the license plate number of the vehicle defendant allegedly left the scene of the

crime in.

3. The trial court erred in admitting argumentative, conclusory testimony and prohibiting the defendant from admitting comparable testimony.

### C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Washington State Privacy Act, RCW 9.73, *et seq.*, was violated by the admission of recorded jail calls.

2. The defendant's right to privacy under Article 1 § 7 of the Washington Constitution and the Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution was violated by admission of the recorded jail calls.

3. The defendant's right to be free of unreasonable searches under Article 1 § 7 of the Washington Constitution and the Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution was violated by the admission of recorded jail calls.

4. The defendant's federal and state constitutional right to confrontation of witnesses was violated by the admission of hearsay statements.

5. The defendant's right to a fair trial was violated by the admission of prejudicial hearsay.

6. The defendant's right to a jury trial was violated by the admission of the codefendant's opinion of his guilt.

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### **1. PROCEDURAL HISTORY**

The January 14, 2014 First Amended Information charged appellant Zakaria Aweis Dere, codefendants Bashir A. Mohamed, and Mohamed A. Ali with one count of Robbery in the First Degree, and Bashir Mohamed and Zakaria Dere with Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree. Clerk's Papers, pp. 1-2 (hereinafter "CP" followed by the page number).

On May 14, 2014, the State filed a Second Amended Information which added charges against Bashir Mohamed of Violation of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act (Count 4), Bribing a Witness (Count 5), and Tampering With a Witness (Count 6). CP 41-43. On June 6, 2014, the three codefendants' cases were joined for trial. CP 44.

On September 3, 2014, the three codefendants began trial before the Honorable Tanya Thorp. Transcript at p. 57. (Hereinafter "Tr" followed by the page number.) Previously, on July 15, 2014, Dere posted bail and remained out of custody until his verdict. Tr 57; 1561; 1830

The State agreed to Dere's Motion to Dismiss Count 3, Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree. CP 78-81. On September 4, 2014, the State filed a third Amended Information, which omitted the dismissed Count 3. CP 259-61. After initially denying Dere's motion to sever his case, the court later granted the severance on September 16, 2014,

and his separate trial was delayed. Tr 598. For Mohamed Ali and Bashir Mohamed, the other two codefendants, trial continued through September 2014. During that trial, Bashir Mohamed pled guilty and later testified against his two codefendants. CP 321-23.

Dere was tried separately, and on October 31, 2014, a jury found Dere guilty of Robbery in the First Degree, and answered "yes" on the firearm special verdict, after two days of deliberation. CP 370-72. On November 14, 2014, the trial court sentenced Dere to 60 months on the firearm count, consecutive with 90 months for the robbery offense, totaling 150 months imprisonment. CP 381-89.

Dere timely filed his Notice of Appeal on November 14, 2014. CP 373. Dere is currently serving his sentence at the Clallam Bay Corrections Center in Clallam Bay, Washington.

#### 2. PRETRIAL MOTIONS.

In addressing Dere's motions in limine on October 9, 2014, the trial court ruled that the alleged victim, Nasir Abdulkadir, could not testify about the license plate on the Cadillac which he claimed that Dere drove away from the crime. The court reasoned that because a third person provided the license plate number, Abdulkadir did not have any personal knowledge of the plate number. Tr 611.

On constitutional, statutory and evidentiary grounds, Dere moved to

exclude recorded jail calls made by codefendant Mohamed Ali, who was in jail, to Dere, who was not in jail at the time. Tr 618-621; CP 184-219; CP 318-20. The court denied Dere's suppression motion, and later ruled that five separate calls were admissible. Tr 623, 657.

### 3. TRIAL TESTIMONY AND CONDUCT.

The State's first witness, Nasir Abdulkadir, testified that on December 12 and 13, 2013, he was serving as a taxi driver for Eastside for Hire. Tr 867. Nasir Abdulkadir was familiar with the three codefendants. He claimed to have seen Mohamed Ali (nickname "Shamarke") with a gun. Nasir Abdulkadir also testified that he had once seen Bashir Mohamed. He also claimed to have seen Zakaria Dere (nickname "Zu") about four times before, but that he had not previously known his name. Tr 864-67.

Nasir Abdulkadir testified that while he was driving in the area of 12<sup>th</sup> Avenue and Main Street in Seattle, he saw defendant Mohamed Ali Bashir Mohamed, Zakaria Dere, Moe Will, and others he did not know, interacting with each other. Tr 869-70.

Nasir Abdulkadir testified that Ali flagged his cab down, got into the front passenger seat, was laughing and joking, and took Abdulkadir's iPhone to change the music he was playing. Tr 871, 874-75. Nasir Abdulkadir testified that within two minutes of Ali getting into the cab, codefendant Bashir Mohamed opened the driver's door, pointed a black revolver at his

face, and demanded money. Tr 876, 880-81, 889. Nasir Abdulkadir claimed that at some point, Zakaria Dere stood within an arm's length of Bashir. Tr 881. The prosecutor had Abdulkadir point out still photos of himself and the driver's side window, taken by a camera attached to the windshield near his rear view mirror. Tr 877-888. Bashir's right hand was in the picture. Tr 884. Abdulkadir testified that Bashir hit him with the gun, and that Dere stood behind Bashir and was holding what he thought was a boxcutter knife. Tr 884. The person behind Bashir was not identifiable in any pictures from the cab camera. Tr 1752, 1755.

Abdulkadir testified that after Bashir hit him, Dere cut him with the knife, and that Dere and Bashir repeatedly struck him on the head. Tr 885-86. He claimed that he tried to get them to stop hitting him by saying "don't you know me?" Tr 887. Nasir Abdulkadir stated that shortly thereafter, he jumped out of his cab and ran to the nearby Hookah bar. Tr 888. Abdulkadir testified that, as he was using his friend's phone to call 911, he saw a group of men searching inside his cab. Tr 891.

The recorded 911 call (made at 2:59 a.m.), played for the jury, reflected that Abdulkadir reported being robbed by three black males in their 20's, with three guns, who beat him with their guns and took his phone and GPS device. Tr 893-902, 1072. He also reported they drove away on Main Street in a white Chevy. Tr 898-99.

At trial, Abdulkadir testified that he also saw Dere leave in a white Cadillac. Tr 903, 917. Abdulkadir testified that he saw the police stop the white Chevy, and subsequently identified only Bashir Mohamed out of the four people in the car, and stated that the others individuals were not involved in the robbery. Tr 906-07. Abdulkadir testified that he told an officer at the scene that he would recognize the robbers if he saw them again. Tr 909. He did not tell the police the license plate number. Tr 909. The prosecutor then asked a series of five questions intimating that Abdulkadir had heard the license plate number from a friend of his – Amed Jama –who did not testify at trial. Tr 910. To each of these questions, an objection was sustained. Tr 910. Later, the court reiterated that there would be no testimony about the plate number. Tr 922.

Abdulkadir testified that on the Monday following the alleged Friday night robbery, he gave Facebook photos of Mohamed Ali ("Shamarke") to the police. Tr 912. He testified that he knew Ali's name the night of the robbery, but that he did not give it to the police because he wanted first to try to resolve it within the Somali community. Tr 915. He testified that he could not resolve the matter in speaking with Ali's mother during the intervening weekend. Tr 915-16.

Abdulkadir testified that he picked Dere out of a six-person montage. Tr 932. He told the police Dere's name only after he met with someone he thought was Dere's sister. Tr 935-36.

On cross-examination, Abdulkadir admitted that before December 13, he knew Dere and his family from the Somali community, but that he did not identify him that night to the police. Tr 962.

Abdulkadir testified he gave Dere's name only after he talked to Dere's "sister," whom he had never met before and whose name he did not know. Tr 962. Dere's "sister" accused Abdulkadir of making false accusations. Tr 964. Abdulkadir testified he gave the police Dere's name on the following Monday, which was December 16. Tr 962. [Later, Detective Aakervik testified Abdulkadir did not provide Shamarke or Dere's names until December 23. Tr 1304.] In an interview with defense counsel in July 2014, Abdulkadir never mentioned this meeting with Dere's purported sister. Tr 968.

In his testimony, Abdulkadir described the black boxcutter that Dere hit him with, and detailed that it was similar to a boxcutter in a picture which was admitted for illustrative purposes as Exhibit 117. Tr 975. Abdulkadir then admitted that he first told police that the second person hit him with a gun, and did not mention a boxcutter until 10 days later. Tr 977, 1005.

Even though Abdulkadir knew Ali's name on the night of the robbery, Abdulkadir told the police that he did not know Ali; nor did Abdulkadir mention that he knew Dere's family. Tr 1006-08. Officer Medlock, who wrote the main incident report, thought they were "strangers" to Abdulkadir . Tr 1266. Seattle Lt. Green testified that Abdulkadir said he had "seen them around but didn't know who they were." Tr 1244. Abdulkadir testified that he did not tell the police because he wanted to talk to their families first, even though he identified Bashir Mohamed before talking to his family. Tr 1007-08. At the proceedings in the month before Dere's trial, Abdulkadir testified that he did not give the police Ali's name because "it slipped off his mind." Tr 1008. Along with Ali's picture, Abdulkadir testified that he gave a picture of Moe Will to Detective Aakervik. Tr 1056-57. [Aakervik later testified that he only gave him two pictures of Mohamed Ali ("Shamarke".) Tr 1305.]

Officers Fitzgerald and Shepherd testified about the arrest of Bashir Mohamed, and the seizure of two guns and a GPS from the Chevy Caprice the night of the robbery on December 13, 2014. Tr 1092; 1132-33. Bashir Mohamed's fingerprint was found on the revolver, which was one of the guns found in the Chevy Caprice. Tr 1210.

Detective Kurt Litsjo testified that on December 26, 2013, he and another officer arrested Zakaria Dere in a silver Cadillac with plate number AKE8954. Detective Litjo had been looking for this Cadillac bearing the plate number. Tr 1103-04; 1110.

Despite consistently ruling that the license plate number would not

be admitted because the witness who provided the number did not testify, the court, over the defense's objection, permitted Officer Medlock to say that Abdulkadir gave him a license plate number. Tr 1254; Tr 1260. The court later admitted Exhibit 94, a certified copy of the registration of Dere's silver Cadillac, reflecting license plate number AKE8954. Tr 1300. A search of the Cadillac with plate number AKE8954 produced two identification documents in Dere's name. Tr 1317.

Testifying for the prosecution by agreement, Bashir Mohamed admitted that he pled guilty to the offenses of first degree robbery and illegal possession of a firearm in the first degree. CP 321-23; Tr 1335. Bashir Mohamed testified that he had known Mohamed Ali ("Shamarke"), since he was 5 or 6 years old, and Zakaria Dere ("Zu") since high school. Tr 1336-38. Bashir Mohamed testified that Dere drove a Cadillac which he identified in a picture admitted as Exhibit 99. Tr 1339.

Bashir Mohamed testified that on December 13, 2013, he was drinking Jack Daniels and taking methylone with Ali, and discussing the prospects of robbing someone. Tr 1340-42. Mohamed testified that he later approached a group of guys, including Dere, who were drinking cognac, and that Bashir gave Dere some methylone. Tr 1346-47. Bashir testified that the night of the robbery he possessed the black revolver which the police later recovered from the Chevy Caprice. Tr 1347. Bashir Mohamed testified that at some point, he saw Ali in Nasir Abdulkadir's cab, and that, as prearranged, Ali signaled him over to the cab. Tr 1351. Bashir identified himself in one of the stills from the taxicab video. Tr 1352.

Bashir Mohamed testified that after the pre-arranged signal, he went to the taxi, opened the driver's door, pulled his gun out and demanded money. Tr 1352. He alleged that he saw Abdulkadir smile, noticed Dere standing next to him holding a baton, and that Dere started to hit Abdulkadir with the baton. Tr 1354. He testified that Dere asked for money. Tr 1356. Bashir Mohamed testified that Abdulkadir then exited the taxi and ran to the hookah bar. Tr 1360. Bashir Mohamed testified that Bashir eventually got into a white Chevy with other people not involved in the robbery, and stashed his gun under a seat. Tr 1364-66; 1368.

Later, in the jail Bashir heard Dere and Ali discussing paying off Abdulkadir, or making sure he did not come to court. Tr 1370-72. Subject to previous objections, the trial court allowed the prosecution to play for the jury a recorded jail phone call between codefendant Mohamed Ali (who was in jail) and Dere (who was not in jail). Tr 1373. Bashir identified the speakers in the August 25, 2014 call played to the jury. Tr 1376. Bashir identified Dere as the first male speaker on the September 10, 2014, recorded call. Tr 1375. As to the September 25, 2014 call, Bashir indicated that Dere asked Ali: "did that nigga come in?" Tr 1375-76. Bashir testified that after the mention of "Remember Yesler Terrace," during the same recorded call, Dere said in Somali "we were there." Tr 1376-77.

At the end of Bashir's direct examination, the prosecutor asked, "And Mr. Abdulkadir had fled from the car as a direct result of what you and Mr. Dere were doing together; correct?" The witnessed answered "yes", after the trial court overruled the defense's objection that the question was "argumentative". Tr 1378.

On cross-examination, Bashir admitted that he spent a day or so with Ali before the robbery, only ran into Dere at the scene, and that only he and Ali had planned the robbery. Tr 1385-86. Bashir also admitted that he was not sure if Dere said anything, or if it was Ali who spoke. Tr 1405-06. Dere took nothing from the cab or from Abdulkadir. Nor was Dere handed anything that was taken. Tr 1411. In response to defense counsel's question, "Did you tell the prosecutor that Zakaria did not have intent to commit robbery?" the court sustained the State's objection, and struck the question from the record. Tr 1442.

During the trial, the State's witness, Ibrahim Abdi, a Somali interpreter, interpreted for the jury the recorded jail calls between Dere and Mohamed Ali. Tr 1458, et seq. The prosecution played a recorded September 10, 2014 call, even though there was not a clear translation of the following: FIRST MALE: (Somali) 11 years. But he said -- he said he's going -- he's going to take the deal. He's going [INAUDIBLE] I was talking to his girl, whatever. She was -- she said nigga -- this nigga he's going to take the deal. The nigga he's going to try to say [INAUDIBLE] and he said he's -- when he testify, he's going to try to change to testify to some shit.

SECOND MALE: [INAUDIBLE].

FIRST MALE: [INAUDIBLE] a rat. There's no coming back [INAUDIBLE] go by that. You can't [INAUDIBLE]."

SECOND MALE: [INAUDIBLE].

FIRST MALE: So, nigga, you -- nigga, they gonna try to make [INAUDIBLE] point fingers after that. Once they do [INAUDIBLE] they don't need you to say [INAUDIBLE] you know what I'm saying?

SECOND MALE: Right. (Somali) Don't do it. (Stop exhibit played in open court.)Q. Okay. Before don't do it, what was said?A. What did he say to him?Q. Okay. I'm starting now at the 1:11 mark. (Start exhibit played in open court.)

FIRST MALE: [INAUDIBLE].

SECOND MALE: [INAUDIBLE] right?

FIRST MALE: Yeah, but once you take that deal, there's no coming back.

SECOND MALE: (Somali).

FIRST MALE: (Somali).

SECOND MALE: (Somali). Stop exhibit played in open court.)

Q. What was said there at the very end?

A. Momma -- momma (Somali) -- what did the mom said? The two mother -- moms are friends.

Tr 1462-63.

The record does not reflect whether the entire September 12, 2014, call played for the jury was translated into English. Tr 1463-67. The September 16, 2014, call was played for the jury in fits and starts. Tr 1467-

71. A portion of the September 16, 2014 call provides:

MALE: (Somali) My nigga, I would you got to make him take a deal, bro --(Stop exhibit played in open court.)

Q. Pausing at the 1:42 mark.

A. (Somali) He's swearing and -- and I already told you what to do. And you have to take the deal. Then he start using English." Tr 1470. Later, the next segment comes out this way on the record:

Q. Stopping at the 2:10 mark. Were you able to make that--

A. Yeah, (Somali) It means, you know, what -- I think he's going to take a deal. That's what he's trying to say. I think.

Tr 1471. The State also played the September 25, 2014, call in fits and starts. Tr 1471-76. The State played the August 25, 2014, call, despite the defense's objection that it went "beyond interpreting." Tr 1476-87.

On redirect, the prosecutor, without objection, had the interpreter read his prior translation as follows: "We just tell them that, you know -- you know, we are not in it and because they tell us after ten days, okay?" Tr 1491-92.

#### 4. CLOSING ARGUMENTS.

In closing argument, the State relied heavily on the recorded jail calls to paint Dere as an accomplice. Tr 1701-02. During his closing argument, the prosecutor played various excerpts of the recorded calls, and emphasized their importance in establishing guilt. Tr 1725-32. 1734-35. Notably, the trial record of the September 10<sup>th</sup> jail call, Tr 1461-63, does not support the prosecutor's argument that "Dere said, I told him don't do it." Tr 1726. The trial record does not reflect that anyone said, "I told him." Nor does the record establish that the speaker who said "Don't do it," was the second male, not Dere (who was the first male speaker.) Tr 1461. Similarly, neither the trial record nor the replay of the September 16, 2014 call fully supports the prosecutor's argument that "you heard Mr. Dere say that because Bashir had been caught with everything, he should take it for the team." Tr 1727-28. The prosecutor also replayed a portion of the September 25, 2014, call, emphasizing how it shows Dere agreed he was involved in the robbery. Tr 1728-32.

In rebuttal the State argued that the jail calls were "incredibly

damning for the defendant." Tr 1770. Similarly, the prosecution concluded its rebuttal by asserting, "and most damning of all, the jail calls." Tr 1777.

The State also relied on the identification of the Cadillac in which Dere was arrested. The prosecutor argued:

> We also know from Bashir Mohamed the robbery, what Mr. Abdulkadir said, that he identified that Cadillac, the Cadillac with that license plate number. Mr. Mohamed identified that Cadillac and said that is the Cadillac that Zakaria Dere drove to get away. We know that Zakaria Dere was arrested in that Cadillac.

Tr 1717. In rebuttal, the State again mentioned the Cadillac, arguing that it was an important piece of evidence. Tr 1769.

The defense argued the State had not proven Dere was guilty of being an accomplice to the robbery and attacked the credibility of the eyewitnesses. Tr 1738; 1755-59; 1764-66.

#### 5. JURY QUESTIONS

On October 29, 2014, the jury began deliberations at 3:30 p.m.

Minutes (Sub 89, p. 24 of 29.) Within 15 minutes, the jury asked to hear the recorded jail calls. CP 326. The five calls were played in open court the next morning. Tr 1797-1810. At 11:55 that same day, the jury requested to review the transcript and translation of the jail call recordings. Tr 1811. The court responded: "Written transcript and written translation of the jail call recordings are not admitted exhibits." CP366. The verdict took another day.

#### D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

# I. THE ADMISSION OF THE RECORDED JAIL CALLS WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR.

# 1. THE RECORDED JAIL CALLS VIOLATED THE WASHINGTON STATE PRIVACY ACT.

RCW 9.73.030(1) prohibits the recording of private

conversations on telephone calls without a court order or consent by both parties. "Washington's privacy act broadly protects individuals' privacy rights." *State v. Roden*, 179 Wn.2d 893, 898, 321 P.3d 1183 (2014). Conversations between two parties are presumed as being intended to be private. *Id.*, at 900.

Without a court order, the speakers' consent is the only way

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