FILED
January 4, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 72713-3-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

ZAKARIA AWEIS DERE,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY
THE HONORABLE TANYA THORP

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DONNA L. WISE Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

Finally, Dere argues that admission of three of the calls violated the Privacy Act because the portions of the recordings admitted did not include the automated notice. This statutory argument was waived by failure to raise it in the trial court. A claim of error may be raised for the first time on appeal only if it is a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3); State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). The argument also fails on its merits. Dere relies solely on RCW 9.73.030(3), which provides that where consent is required under the Privacy Act, the recording must include the announcement that recording will occur. The evidence in the trial court was that the

⁹ The Webster's dictionary definition relied upon by Dere is definition 2b of "subject," meaning "Prone; disposed." App. Br. at 19. However, definition 2a in that dictionary is "suffering a particular liability or exposure," indicating a much greater certainty. Webster's Third New International Dictionary 2275 (1993). These definitions do not resolve the issue of the announcement's adequacy.

automated notice occurs at the beginning of every call. RP 1546-47. There was no contradictory evidence. The State announced its intention to play for the jury only the recording at the beginning of one call, and Dere responded that he had no objection to that procedure. RP 567. Dere has cited no authority in support of his claim that the exhibits admitted at trial must include the recorded notice, and that claim should be rejected.

 The Recipient Of A Phone Call From Jail Who Consents To Recording Has No Statutory Right To Suppression Of The Recording.

For the first time on appeal, Dere claims that the jail phone recordings were admitted in violation of the Washington Privacy Act, RCW 9.73.030(1), because Dere was the recipient of the calls, not the inmate caller. This statutory claim should not be considered on appeal, as a claim of error may be raised for the first time on appeal only if it is a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3); State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

Further, the substance of this claim is meritless for the reasons stated in section C.1.b, <u>supra</u>: the calls were not subject to the Privacy Act because there was no expectation of privacy in

them, and even if there was an expectation of privacy, Dere consented to the recording.

Dere asserts that "strict scrutiny" applies to this claim, relying on the reference to that standard in <u>State v. Haq.</u> 166 Wn. App. at 254. However, that reference in <u>Haq</u> was to the legal standard applicable to the equal protection claim that was made in that case, challenging the difference in treatment of inmates in the King County Jail as opposed to inmates in the State Department of Corrections. <u>Id.</u> at 253-56. There is no equal protection claim in this case, so the legal standards used in equal protection analysis are inapposite.

Dere asserts that a reasonable expectation of privacy is "enshrined by" the Privacy Act. App. Br. at 25. But the Privacy Act does not create an expectation of privacy, it protects from nonconsensual recording those communications as to which there is a reasonable expectation of privacy.

Dere's assertion that he had a subjective expectation of privacy is unsupported by the record. It is apparent that Dere and Ali knew calls were being recorded, as they mocked a codefendant who made incriminating calls during jail calls and appeared to switch from English to Somali when discussing incriminating

details. Ex. 102: 8/25/14, 20:16 at 3:37-43; RP 1481-86, 1798-1802. Dere's inaccurate gauge of whether his own calls would be incriminating does not establish that he was unaware they were being recorded. Moreover, Dere's subjective expectation is irrelevant unless it was an objectively reasonable expectation of privacy, and Modica¹⁰ and Haq¹¹ already have held there is not an objectively reasonable expectation of privacy in such calls.

Dere's characterization of the State as having "[run] an 'end around' the judiciary to violate" Dere's rights is unjustified. App. Br. at 25. The recording of jail calls and the use of recorded jail calls at trial had been explicitly approved by Washington appellate courts before the recordings in this case. Dere's analogy of the jail phone call recordings to a microphone hidden under the tables used by the defense at trial is entirely inapposite. There was no surreptitious recording here — Dere was informed at the beginning of each call from Ali that he would be recorded and Dere had to affirmatively indicate his understanding of that to continue with each

¹⁰ Modica, 164 Wn.2d at 87-90.

¹¹ Haq, 166 Wn. App. at 259-60.

 $^{^{12}}$ The calls at issue occurred in August and September of 2014. RP1538, 1545. Modica was decided in 2008, and Haq in 2012.

¹³ App. Br. at 26.

call. Dere's suggestion that he should have been advised that the recording could be used against him¹⁴ is a reference to the advice of constitutional rights that is required by Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 467-73, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966), before custodial interrogation by a state agent. As the trial court found, Dere was not in custody and Ali was not a state agent, so the requirements of Miranda were not applicable here. RP 621-22.

d. Admission Of A Jail Phone Recording Against The Recipient Of The Call, Who Consents To Recording, Does Not Violate Constitutional Privacy Rights.

For the first time on appeal, Dere claims that the constitutional right to privacy of a recipient of a call from an inmate differs from the rights of an inmate and precludes admission of the call against the recipient unless the calls were recorded (and the recordings obtained) under authority of a search warrant. This argument was not preserved for review and should be rejected under RAP 2.5 on the basis that Dere has not established manifest constitutional error. On its merits, this argument fails because Dere consented to the recordings and so they were not protected private affairs.

¹⁴ App. Br. at 26.

A claim of error may be raised for the first time on appeal only if it is a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3); McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 333. Not every constitutional error falls within this exception; the defendant must show that the error occurred and caused actual prejudice to the defendant's rights. Id. Because Dere actually knew that the calls from the jail were being recorded, based on the information he received while in the jail and the notification at the start of each call, he did not have an expectation of privacy in the calls, and he has not established actual prejudice to his rights.

Dere's claim that the jail phone recordings violated the

Fourth Amendment is contrary to federal cases that uniformly

conclude that recording of jail phone calls does not violate any

federal expectation of privacy. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>United States v. VanPoyck</u>, 77

F.3d 285, 290 (9th Cir. 1996); <u>United States v. Willoughby</u>, 860

F.2d 15 (2nd Cir. 1988); <u>United States v. Hearst</u>, 563 F.2d 1331,

1345 (9th Cir. 1977). The only federal case the State has found

that addresses the argument that non-inmates have greater privacy
rights than inmates rejected that claim. <u>Willoughby</u>, 860 F.2d at 21
22. The court observed that contacts with inmates have often been
held to justify otherwise impermissible intrusions into the

noninmates' privacy. Id. (citing Procunier v. Martinez, 416 U.S. 396, 408-09, 412-14, 94 S. Ct. 1800, 40 L. Ed. 2d 224 (1974) (mail to prisoners may be subject to inspection); United States v. Harrelson, 754 F.2d 1153, 1169-70 (5th Cir. 1985) (visitors may have their conversations with inmates monitored); Hunter v. Auger, 672 F.2d 668, 673-75 (8th Cir. 1982) (visitors may be subject to strip searches based on reasonable suspicion)). The court held that the public is on notice that prison officials must establish procedures to monitor inmates' calls, because that requirement is published in the Code of Federal Regulations, and given the institution's strong interest in preserving security, interception of calls to noninmates does not violate the federal privacy rights of noninmates. Willoughby, 860 F.2d at 21-22. Because Dere received explicit notice that the calls were subject to recording, he had no federal privacy right in the calls.

Dere's Fourth Amendment argument is based entirely on two cases, neither involving jail phone calls. The first is <u>Katz v. United</u>

<u>States</u>, 389 U.S. 347, 88 S. Ct. 507, 19 L. Ed. 2d 576 (1967), which held that a phone conversation conducted in a public phone booth was protected by the Fourth Amendment. However, the electronic eavesdropping at issue in <u>Katz</u> was surreptitious; unlike the calls

recorded in this case, the phone conversation in <u>Katz</u> was intended to be private and the participants had no reason to believe it was not private. <u>Id.</u> at 348.

The second case on which Dere relies is Riley v. California, 573 U.S. ___, 134 S. Ct. 2473, 189 L. Ed. 2d 430 (2014), which held that the data on a private cell phone falls within constitutionally protected privacy rights, even after the phone has been lawfully seized. That case does not establish a privacy interest in jail phone calls, however. The data protected by the court in Riley was data created when the user of the telephone had no reason to believe it would be exposed to government intrusion. The Riley opinion emphasized that the digital data on a cell phone included vast quantities of sensitive personal information, noting that for many people, cell phones hold the "privacies of life." 134 S. Ct. at 2489-91, 2495 (quoting Boyd v. United States, 116 U.S. 616, 630, 6 S. Ct. 524, 29 L. Ed. 746 (1886)). This is the opposite of the expectations of a person called by a jail inmate, who is informed that the call is subject to monitoring and will be recorded unless the telephone number is registered as an attorney's number, and who must press a number indicating acceptance of that condition.

Dere's challenge to the jail phone recordings under Article I, Section 7 of the Washington Constitution¹⁵ has been rejected by this Court, in Archie, 148 Wn. App. at 204, and in Haq, 166 Wn. App. at 256-59. The trial court relied on Archie and Haq in rejecting this argument, concluding that Dere had no expectation of privacy in the jail phone calls and that he consented to the recording of the calls. CrR 3.6 Findings at 5; RP 622-23. Whether undisputed facts constitute a violation of this constitutional provision is a question of law reviewed de novo. Archie, 148 Wn. App. at 201.

This Court concluded in <u>Archie</u> that jail phone calls made under circumstances virtually identical to those in this case were not "private affairs" protected by Article I, Section 7. <u>Id.</u> at 204. The court noted that the Supreme Court has found no invasion of privacy when other forms of inmate communication are inspected, as long as inmates have been informed of that practice. <u>Id.</u> at 204, citing <u>State v. Hawkins</u>, 70 Wn.2d 697, 704, 425 P.2d 390 (1967).

The court in <u>Haq</u> affirmed the holding that phone calls from the jail are not private affairs deserving of Article I, Section 7 protection. 166 Wn. App. at 258. Dere's argument on appeal that

¹⁵ Article I, Section 7 provides that "No person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law."

use of the recordings violated the Washington Constitution relies on the prohibition of warrantless searches, but where the matter at issue is not a private affair protected by the Constitution, there is no warrant requirement. <u>Id.</u>

Dere relies upon the analysis of Modica in this section of his brief, but Modica analyzed only whether jail phone recordings violated the Privacy Act; there was no constitutional analysis.

Modica, 164 Wn.2d at 86-90.

Dere's argument that the calls were recorded in violation of the Washington Constitution, or used at trial in violation of the Constitution, includes the assertion that the content of the calls determines the legality of the recordings. There is no legal authority for that position (except for calls to an attorney). The actual content of the calls recorded does not define the constitutional protection provided. The jail records all inmate calls and cannot know until afterward whether security issues are implicated, an escape is planned, or other crimes (such as intimidating a witness or violating a no contact order) are committed during the calls. If the jail obtains information that an inmate is contemplating or instigating violence or an escape, or attempting contact with victims, reference to the contents of jail calls is critical.

The expectation of privacy is not dependent on whether law enforcement has a previously existing individualized security concern as to a specific inmate.

Dere offers no authority for his claim that a recording properly obtained by the jail can still be a "private affair" protected by Article I, Section 7. To the contrary, the Washington Supreme Court has concluded that once the State has properly seized an item, an inmate no longer has a privacy interest in it. State v. Puapuaga, 164 Wn.2d 515, 523-24, 192 P.3d 360 (2008); State v. Cheatam, 150 Wn.2d 626, 641-43, 81 P.3d 830 (2003). Because Dere's claim that the release of recordings from the jail to the prosecutor warrants separate constitutional protection under Article I, Section 7 is unsupported by analysis or authority, the court should refuse to consider this claim. RAP 10.3(a)(6), (g); State v. Johnson, 119 Wn.2d 167, 171, 829 P.2d 1082 (1992).

The United States Supreme Court's decision in Riley is distinguishable. The phones had been seized but the data in the phones had not been seized when the data was searched. 134 S. Ct. at 2477. Here, the content of the calls was already recorded and in the hands of the jail, a public entity. No additional data was obtained when the calls were provided to the State.

Finally, the alternative holding of Archie was that when a call recipient who is informed of the recording presses a button to continue the call, as was required in each call in this case, that party has expressly consented to the recording and there is no constitutional violation. Id. at 204. It is well established that if one party in a conversation consents to a recording, the recording does not violate Article I, Section 7. State v. Clark, 129 Wn.2d 211, 221, 916 P.2d 384 (1996). The trial court here concluded that Ali and Dere consented to the recording of these calls. CrR 3.6 Findings at 5. Both Ali and Dere had to press a button on the phone to continue with the call after being warned that it would be recorded; as the court concluded in Archie, they expressly consented to the recording. Because at least one party consented to each recording, there was no constitutional violation.

2. ADMISSION OF OFFICER MEDLOCK'S TESTIMONY THAT HE WAS PROVIDED A LICENSE NUMBER OF THE FLEEING CADILLAC WAS NOT REVERSIBLE ERROR.

Dere claims that the trial court erred in allowing Officer

Medlock to testify that Abdulkadir provided the license number of
the silver Cadillac that fled the scene of the robbery. Dere asserts

that this testimony was inadmissible hearsay. Officer Medlock's statement was not hearsay and the court did not abuse its discretion in permitting it. Further, any error in its admission was harmless.

Dere's assignment of error and issue statements relating to this claim refer to hearsay statements, plural, but the State has been unable to identify any statement other than Medlock's that Dere identifies as improperly admitted. The State's response is premised on that understanding. While Dere asserts that "the State insinuated Abdulkadir's supposed identification of the license plate number in a number of different ways," 16 he has not identified any error in the testimony that he then describes.

Dere's issue statements relating to this claim aver a violation of his constitutional right to confront witnesses. App. Br. at 2. However, Dere does not mention any constitutional right to confrontation in his argument, so that claim has been waived. A party that offers no argument on a claimed assignment of error waives the assignment. Brown v. Vail, 169 Wn.2d 318, 336 n. 11, 237 P.3d 263, 272 (2010) (citing Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992)).

¹⁶ App. Br. at 33.

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